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1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED:

South Dakota School of Mines and Technology
501 East Saint Joseph Street
Rapid City, South Dal^ota 57701
Locations Inspected: See below

REPORT NO: 030-35198/2016-001

2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission - Region IV
1600 East Lamar Boulevard

Arlington, Texas 76011-4511

3. DOCKET NUMBER

030-35198

4. UCENSE NUMBER

40-27640-01

5. DATES OF INSPECTION

October 3. 2016

UCENSEE:

The inspection was anexamination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate toradiation safety and tocompliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows;

X 1. Based on the inspection findings, no violationswere identified

2. Previous violation(s) closed.

3. The violations(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not t>eing cited because they were self-
identified. non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being tal(en. and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

Non-Cited Violation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Corrective Action(s):

4. During this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are beint
cited. This fomi is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION. v^icJ) may be subject to posting in accordance with 10CFR 19.11.

Locations Inspected:
• Chemical & Biological Engineering Chemistry Building, 501 East Saint Joseph Street, Rapid

City, South Dakota
• Foundation Building, 306 East Saint Joseph Street, Rapid City, South Dakota

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4, above.

hereby state that, within30 days, the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which willbe taken
date when full compliance willbe achieved). I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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Katanic, Janine

From: Katanic, Janine

Sent: Tuesday, October 25, 2016 4:26 PM
To: Smallbrock, Margaret A.; 'Roberts, Jerilyn C.'
Subject: SDSMfiiT NRC Inspection Report
Attachments: NRC Inspection Report 030 35198 2016 OOl.pdf

Margaret and Jerilyn.

Thanks for your time today. I believe that the discussion was valuable in clarifying each of the open items that \ /e
discussed during the inspection. As mentioned during the call, based on the results of the on-site inspection, and the
information obtained during the follow-up of the open items, no violations were identified. Attached is an NRC Form
591M documenting the results of the inspection. No additional action is required on your part other than an em^ii
acknowledging receipt. Thank you.

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.
Janine

Janine F. Katanic PhD. CHP

Senior Health Physicist
us Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Region IV
Division of Nuclear Matenals Safety
office 817-200-1151

email. Janine Katanic@nre.aov


